FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/23/2022 2:59 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/24/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100952-6

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82720-1-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### In re:

## JDH INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC

Receivership Debtor.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN, P.S. By: Aditi Paranjpye

Attorneys for Petitioner Thomas Downie

WSBA No. 53001

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210 Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 9542

Attorneys for Petitioner JDH Investment Group, LLC

#

## A. Identity of Petitioners.

The petitioners are JDH Investment Group, LLC ("JDH"), and Thomas Downie, appellants in the Court of Appeals.

## **B.** Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' March 25, 2022, Order Granting Motion to Lift Stay and Dismiss Appeal, which dismissed petitioners' appeal under RCW 7.60.260(5) because they did not post security to stay an order approving a purchase and sale agreement between the receiver appointed to sell an 80-acre parcel owned by JDH and respondent Pulte Homes of Washington, Inc. ("Pulte"). (App. 1-2) The Court of Appeals denied petitioners' timely motion for reconsideration on April 22, 2022. (App. 3-4)

#### C. Issues Presented for Review.

1. RCW 7.60.260(5) provides that the reversal of an order authorizing the sale of receivership property "does

not affect the validity of a sale . . . under that authorization to an entity that purchased . . . the property in good faith." Did the Court of Appeals erroneously rely on RCW 7.60.260(5) to dismiss this appeal in the absence of any "sale" to respondent—Pulte has not closed on its purchase of JDH's property and may never do so because the purchase and sale agreement contains multiple contingencies that allow Pulte to abandon the purchase without consequence?

2. Does the Court of Appeals' decision undermine RCW 7.60.260(5)'s purpose to protect actual purchasers of property at judicial sales and not those that have not yet—and may never—pay for the property?

#### D. Statement of the Case.

This appeal arises from a receivership over appellant JDH and its sole asset—an 80-acre tract of developable

land ("the property") in the Auburn area. (CP 1, 2195)¹ In 2017, the City of Auburn approved a preliminary plat for the property allowing construction of 200 single-family homes conditioned upon acquiring reasonable use waivers for encroachments into critical areas or removing the proposed encroachments. (CP 36, 712-39) As of October 2019, the land's appraised value was between \$19,000,000 and \$21,845,000, according to a 101-page appraisal report. (CP 591-691, 1686, 1689) This value reflects years of effort spent by JDH and its principal, Downie, obtaining the preliminary plat designation. (CP 592, 1320)

In the fall of 2019, one of JDH's creditors, its former attorney Michael Zeno, initiated foreclosure proceedings and scheduled a foreclosure sale of the property over roughly \$200,000 in unpaid legal bills based on a third-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations in this petition are to the Clerk's Papers and the relevant pleadings and rulings in the Court of Appeals, which are attached to this petition as an appendix.

position lien. (CP 2, 2377) Believing that a distressed foreclosure sale would harm JDH's senior secured creditors, who held \$5 million in debt secured by the property, as well as JDH and Downie, JDH petitioned the superior court to appoint a general receiver under RCW 7.60 and RCW 7.08 for the benefit of its creditors. (CP 1-12) Downie hoped the receivership would give him breathing room to refinance JDH's debt to pay off its creditors and develop the property. (CP 77-78)

After the trial court presiding over the receivership established a procedure for the sale of the property, the Receiver pushed for a sale to Pulte. (CP 130-34, 222-39, 1674-1701, 1763-1844, 1950-62) Over JDH's and Downie's objections, the trial court directed the Receiver to negotiate exclusively with Pulte, with an open auction to occur only if the "Receiver and Pulte are not able to negotiate a Purchase and Sale Agreement." (CP 1693)

After further negotiations, the Receiver and Pulte submitted a proposed purchase and sale agreement ("PSA") to the trial court for approval. (CP 1799-1844) Under the PSA, which the trial court ultimately approved, Pulte has three years to close on its purchase of the property and it will pay between \$10,425,000 and \$13,750,000 for the property, depending on whether Pulte obtains a reasonable use exception, modification approval, or new plat approval to develop the property. (CP 1801-02)<sup>2</sup> Pulte made no earnest money deposits, and the PSA does not require it to do so until after Pulte determines in its "sole and absolute discretion" that the purchase is feasible. (CP 1809) Pulte's feasibility determination, which starts the clock on the three-year closing period, has no set

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The purchase and sale agreement originally submitted to the trial court for approval contained two possible closing periods, the three-year option and a 120-day closing option. (CP 1801) The trial court selected the three-year closing option. (CP 2216)

deadline—Pulte is not required to make its feasibility determination until 90 days after all appeals of the trial court's orders "hav[e] been dismissed to Buyer's reasonable satisfaction." (CP 1803, 1809) The trial court also allowed the Receiver to hire its affiliate as the property's broker and approved a commission brokerage fee schedule that would net the Receiver's affiliate a commission of over \$300,000 under the PSA. (CP 25-27; see also CP 1820)

The PSA contains numerous other contingencies that allow Pulte to abandon its purchase any time before the three-year closing deadline. For example, the PSA allows Pulte to unilaterally back out if it determines that it will be unable to obtain approvals for engineering plans and a new plat. (CP 1812) Other contingencies included approval by Pulte's parent company; the availability of sewer, water, electricity, and other infrastructure; and discovery of hazardous waste. (CP 1802-03) Were Pulte to exercise any

of the contingencies and abandon its purchase, the receivership estate would receive either nothing or, at most, a \$350,000 earnest money deposit that, as noted, Pulte has not yet made and is not required to make until after its feasibility determination. (CP 1799)

JDH and appellant Bridges West, who became JDH's largest creditor after purchasing the \$4.3 million firstposition lien against the property, proposed an alternative to the Pulte sale—a refinancing plan that would pay the other creditors' claims and the receiver's administrative costs, and then terminate the receivership without JDH losing the property. (See CP 1702-18, 1724-42, 1753, 2089-100) To support this refinancing plan, Bridges West's owners wired \$2.7 million to their attorney's trust account to pay the remaining claims, including brokerage fees (if allowed) and the receiver's administrative and legal fees, which totaled \$2,656,000, according to the receiver. (CP 1957-59, 2077-78) Bridges West's owners, who are

experienced real estate developers, also confirmed they had completed due diligence on the property and were, unlike Pulte, not asking for any contingencies. (CP 1716-17, 1867-68, 2084, 2096) The refinancing plan provided for a closing date within 21 days of the court approving the plan. (CP 2098) Unlike the deal with Pulte, the Receiver would not receive a commission under the refinance. (*Compare* CP 2089-100, *with* CP 25-27)

In May 2021, the trial court entered orders authorizing the receiver to sell the property to Pulte and rejecting the refinance proposal. (CP 2192-218) JDH, Downie, and Bridges West appealed these orders. (CP 2152-257)

After filling their appeal, appellants asked the Court of Appeals to enter a limited stay under RAP 8.1 and RAP 8.3 that would prevent the closing of the sale pending their appeal. (App. 5-29) Appellants also argued that because the property has substantial value, having been appraised

for between \$19 million and almost \$22 million in 2019, it could fully secure any loss and thus no additional security should be required under RAP 8.1(c)(2). (App. 16-18) Respondents opposed appellants' request for a stay and insisted that any stay, if granted, should be conditioned on posting between \$3.3 million and \$16.3 million in security. (App. 61-62, 77) Respondents' arguments against using the value of the property to secure a stay were premised on their allegation that the property's "value will drop like a rock" after its preliminary plat approval expired in February 2022. (App. 50, 63)

On September 15, 2021, the Court of Appeals granted appellants' motion staying the closing of the purchase and sale agreement, but not otherwise restraining "[t]he rights of Pulte Homes to act under the purchase and sale agreement." (App. 57-60) The Court of Appeals also set the appeal for expedited consideration and remanded to the trial court to "determin[e] whether the property at issue

may fully or partially secure any loss and the form and amount of other appropriate security, if any." (App. 60)

The parties then litigated the amount and form of security in the trial court. The trial court rejected appellants' argument that the value of the property was sufficient to secure any stay, and instead ordered appellants to post \$5,905,000 million as security for the stay. (App. 81-92) Appellants challenged this amount in the Court of Appeals under RAP 8.1(h) and the Court of Appeals reduced it to \$3,565,500. (App. 119-21) The Court of Appeals also ruled that appellants should post the reduced security by January 31, 2022. (App. 121)

Despite their best efforts, JDH and Downie were unable to post the required security by the January 31 deadline. However, with the trial court's approval and at the expense of Downie, JDH applied for a one-year extension of the property's preliminary plat approval, which the City of Auburn granted on February 4, 2022.

(See CP 3648-56 (trial court order allowing JDH and Downie to apply for plat extension); App. 174, 180-85) Pulte, in contrast, made no efforts to renew the property's plat extension and was apparently content to let it expire, a result that would lower the purchase price Pulte paid from \$13.75 million to \$10.425 million. (See CP 1801)

On February 3, 2022, a month before oral argument had been scheduled in Division One, Pulte filed a motion to dismiss the appeal as moot, relying on RCW 7.60.260(5). (App. 122-36)<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals then struck the oral argument setting, requested additional briefing on Pulte's motion, and extended the deadline for appellants to post the required security to March 17, 2022. (App. 140-41, 186-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RCW 7.60.260(5) states: "The reversal or modification on appeal of an authorization to sell or lease estate property under this section does not affect the validity of a sale or lease under that authorization to an entity that purchased or leased the property in good faith, whether or not the entity knew of the pendency of the appeal, unless the authorization and sale or lease were stayed pending the appeal."

87) Appellants were again unable to post the required security but nonetheless opposed Pulte's motion on the grounds that even in the absence of a stay, an appeal is not moot under RCW 7.60.260(5) where, as here, the purchaser has not closed on the sale authorized by the order challenged on appeal. (App. 142-70)

On March 25, 2022, the Court of Appeals granted Pulte's motion and dismissed the appeal, reasoning that "under the particular circumstances here, including the interests of the receiver and the creditors, equitable review compels compliance with the supersedeas bond previously ordered." (App. 2) The Court of Appeals ultimately concluded that "[c]onsistent with RAP 8.3... the failure to post the bond warrants the dismissal of the appeal." (App. 2) The Court of Appeals then denied JDH and Downie's motion for reconsideration. (App. 3-4)

E. This Court should grant review and interpret RCW 7.60.260(5) to preclude an appeal only where a sale has been completed—a result that comports with its plain language and the receivership statute's purpose to protect creditors.

Neither the language of RCW 7.60.260(5) nor its underlying purpose supported the dismissal of this appeal given the undisputed fact that Pulte has not closed on its purchase of the property and can, until at least 2025, walk away from it for any number of reasons, including if it decides in its "sole and absolute discretion" that the purchase is not feasible. (CP 1809; see also CP 1799-804, 1811-12) The Court of Appeals' decision to the contrary conflicts with settled precedent governing statutory interpretation and raises an issue of substantial public interest in adopting an interpretation of RCW 7.60.260(5) that allows would-be purchasers to speculate on property sold at judicial sales to the detriment of the debtor and its

creditors. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

# 1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the plain language of RCW 7.60.260(5).

The Court of Appeals decision nowhere addresses the language of RCW 7.60.260(5). But when interpreting a statute, a court "start[s] with the statute's plain language and ordinary meaning." *Washington State Ass'n of Ctys. v. State*, 199 Wn.2d 1, 10, ¶ 14, 502 P.3d 825 (2022) (internal quotation and quoted source omitted).

The plain language of RCW 7.60.260(5) confirms that the statute is meant to protect actual purchasers of receivership property, not parties that might someday purchase receivership property. RCW 7.60.260(5) provides that in the absence of a stay "the validity of a *sale*" "to an entity that *purchased*" the property is not affected by a reversal on appeal:

The reversal or modification on appeal of an authorization to sell or lease estate property under this section does not affect the validity of a sale or lease under that authorization to an entity that purchased or leased the property in good faith, whether or not the entity knew of the pendency of the appeal, unless the authorization and sale or lease were stayed pending the appeal.

(emphasis added). The definition of "sale" is "the transfer of ownership of and title to property from one person to another for a price." Sale, Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary (emphasis added)4; see also Sale, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) ("The transfer of property or title for a price."). Likewise a "purchase" requires the payment of money. Purchase, Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary ("to obtain by paying money or its equivalent").5

<sup>4</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sale">https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sale</a> (last visited May 19, 2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/purchase">https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/purchase</a> (last visited May 19, 2022).

Here, the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing the appeal despite the absence of a "sale." Pulte has not closed on its purchase by paying the purchase price and in exchange receiving title to the property. (See CP 1815) (providing that "[a]t closing" seller shall "transfer[] to Buyer all of Seller's right, title and interest in and to" the property and that "[a]t Closing, Buyer shall deposit . . . in Escrow . . . the Purchase Price")) See also Geonerco, Inc. v. Grand Ridge Properties IV LLC, 146 Wn. App. 459, 465, ¶ 20, 191 P.3d 76 (2008) (purchase and sale agreements "do not themselves convey title; instead, purchase and sale agreements are promises to convey title in the future.") (citing 18 Stoebuck & Weaver, Washington Practice, § 16.1, at 216 (2nd ed. 2004)). Indeed, Pulte has yet to make even an earnest money deposit and there is no assurance that it ever will, even with the dismissal of this appeal, because of the numerous contingencies and conditions in the purchase and sale agreement. (See CP 1799-804, 1809, 1811-12)

The Court of Appeals also ignored the use of the past tense "purchased" in RCW 7.60.260(5), in conflict with Washington precedent governing statutory interpretation. As both this Court and the Court of Appeals have recognized, "[a] legislative body's use of a verb tense holds significance in construing statutes." Crown W. Realty, LLC v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 7 Wn. App. 2d 710, 738, ¶ 57, 435 P.3d 288 (citing *U.S. v. Wilson*, 503 U.S. 329, 333, 112 S. Ct. 1351, 1354, 117 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1992)), rev. denied, 193 Wn.2d 1030 (2019); see also Dependency of D.L.B., 186 Wn.2d 103, 116-18, ¶¶ 33-35, 376 P.3d 1099 (2016) (interpreting statute based on its use of the present tense); Estate of Bunch v. McGraw Residential Ctr., 174 Wn.2d 425, 433-35, ¶¶ 14-16, 275 P.3d 1119 (2012) (interpreting statute based on its differing use of the present tense and present perfect tense). Had the Legislature intended for the

statute to apply to sales that will close in the future, it would have used the future tense, not the past tense, in describing the entities protected by the statute.

Rather than rely on the plain language of the statute, the Court of Appeals apparently relied on the federal cases cited by Pulte in its motion to dismiss interpreting 11 U.S.C. § 363(m), the federal bankruptcy analogue to RCW 7.60.260(5).6 But federal courts interpreting the virtually identical language of 11 U.S.C. § 363(m) have relied on "traditional equitable principles" to hold that it protects "one who purchases in 'good faith' and for 'value." In re Abbotts Dairies of Pennsylvania, Inc., 788 F.2d 143, 147 (3rd Cir. 1986) (emphasis added); see also William Norton,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Like RCW 7.60.260(5), 11 U.S.C. § 363(m) states that the reversal on appeal of an authorization to sell bankruptcy estate property "does not affect the validity of a sale or lease under such authorization to an entity that purchased or leased such property in good faith, whether or not such entity knew of the pendency of the appeal, unless such authorization and such sale or lease were stayed pending appeal."

2 Norton Bankr. L. & Prac. 3d § 44:37 n.1 (April 2022 update) ("courts generally have followed traditional principles in holding that a good faith purchaser is one who buys in good faith and for value.").

Under traditional equitable principles "the uniform rule at common law is that an executory promise (secured or unsecured) is not value for purposes of bona fide purchase." Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment § 68 cmt. e (2011); see also 18 Stoebuck & Weaver, Washington Practice, Real Estate § 14.9 (2nd ed. May 2022 update) ("a mere promise to pay in the future is generally not valuable consideration"). Rather, "the purchaser who promises a future performance gives value when the promise is later performed." Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment § 68 (emphasis added); Restatement (First) of Restitution § 173 cmt. e (1937) ("It is not the making but the performance of the promise which constitutes value."). Thus, a person is

considered a good faith purchaser only if "before reversal, he has obtained the legal title and has paid value therefor." Ehsani v. McCullough Fam. P'ship, 160 Wn.2d 586, 592, ¶ 8, 159 P.3d 407 (2007) (quoting Restatement (First) of Restitution § 74 cmt. i; emphasis added); see also In re Old Cold LLC, 879 F.3d 376, 386 (1st Cir. 2018) ("paying the auction price is sufficient evidence of having paid value") (emphasis added).

Here, all that Pulte has given the receivership estate is a conditional promise: *if* Pulte does not exercise any of the numerous contingencies allowing it to abandon its purchase, it will pay the agreed upon purchase price. That is not "value" and Pulte is unequivocally not a good faith "purchaser."

The Court of Appeals decision ignores the language of the statute, as well as traditional principles governing who qualifies as a good faith purchaser for "value," in conflict with Washington precedent. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), and remand for a decision on the merits.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with the purpose of RCW 7.60.260(5) to increase the value purchasers provide receivership estates.

The Court of Appeals' decision undermines the purpose of RCW 7.60.260(5), raising an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Like all rules promoting the finality of judicial sales, RCW 7.60.260(5) is meant to increase the value paid for receivership assets by eliminating the risk that an appellate court will deprive good faith purchasers of their property after they have paid the purchase price and taken title. That intent is consistent with the general purpose of a receivership "to obtain the best possible price for the property of the insolvent."

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  "As an officer of the court, a receiver's sale is a judicial sale." *Umpqua Bank v. Shasta Apartments, LLC*, 194 Wn. App. 685, 698, ¶ 34, 378 P.3d 585, *rev. denied*, 186 Wn.2d 1026 (2016).

Yakima Fin. Corp. v. Thompson, 171 Wash. 309, 312-13, 17 P.2d 908 (1933). But far from increasing the value provided to the receivership estate, the Court of Appeals allowed Pulte to force the receivership debtor and creditors to the bear the risk of its speculative "purchase" that may never come to fruition.

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