FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/22/2022 9:49 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON **CLERK**

No. 100952-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 82720-1-I)

In re

JDH INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC,

Receivership Debtor.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Christopher I. Brain (WSBA #5054) James Bulthuis (WSBA #44089) TOUSLEY BRAIN STEPHENS PLLC 1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, Washington 98101 Tel: 206.682.5600

Fax: 206.682.2992

Attorneys for Pulte Homes of Washington,

Inc.

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

panel reviewed The has the responses filed by the parties. The status reports filed by the parties confirm that the required supersedeas bond has not been filed. Ordinarily the failure to post a supersedeas bond does not impact the viability of an appeal. But this appeal involves the trial court order approving a sale of property subject to a general receivership. And under the particular circumstances here, including the interests of the receiver and the creditors, equitable review compels compliance with the supersedeas bond previously ordered. Consistent with RAP 8.3 and the panel's February 17, 2022 order, the failure to post the bond warrants the dismissal of the appeal.

(App. 1-2)(emphasis added).

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

Petitioners cite RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2) and (4) as the bases for their Petition. None of those sections are satisfied and so review should be denied.

A. There are no decisions that conflict with the order below.

1. The Petition does not identify a single authority on statutory interpretation that conflicts with the decision below.

The Petition asserts that the decision below "conflicts with settled precedent governing statutory interpretation". Pet. at 13. This is an attempt to feign bringing this appeal within the purview of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). The reality is the decision below does not announce a new rule of statutory interpretation. There is no holding in the decision that conflicts with this Court's precedent on how to interpret statutes. Indeed, the only case that Petitioners cite for statutory interpretation is *Washington State Ass'n of Ctys. v. State*, 199 Wn.2d 1, and after spending one sentence on that case, Petitioners never mention it again. There is no discussion on

how the decision below conflicts with that precedent. Thus, Petitioners fail to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(1) because they have not shown how the decision below conflicts with Supreme Court precedent on statutory interpretation. Similarly, Petitioners fail RAP 13.4(b)(2) because they do not identify a single Court of Appeals decision on statutory interpretation.

2. Petitioners' appeal was tossed after they failed for six months to post the bond that was a condition to the statutorily required stay.

The Petition quotes RCW § 7.60.260(5), but ignores analyzing the most important section: "The reversal or modification on appeal of an authorization to sell [...] estate property under this section does not affect the validity of a sale [...], unless the authorization and sale or lease were stayed pending the appeal." *Id.* (emphasis added). Petitioners put all of their eggs into the basket of whether "sale" is in the past or present tense, and completely omit the equally important part – that they were supposed to stay both the sale and the authorization to sell. Here, Petitioners initially succeeded in staying the sale on September 16, 2021, but omit telling this Court that the stay was conditioned on posting a supersedeas bond. (App. 60). After numerous extensions and six months to post the supersedeas, Petitioners failed to post it. Thus, the stay that was conditioned on the supersedeas was lifted. Therefore, the "authorization"

to sell was no longer stayed, nor was the "sale" stayed. As a matter of simple statutory application, their appeal was deemed moot and dismissed. The statute prescribes that both the sale and the authorization must be stayed. The statute connects these terms with the word "and," not "or". Both must be stayed, and here they were not.

There cannot be any confusion about this because the decision below plainly stated that posting the bond was a condition of the stay. The decision then repeats: "equitable review compels compliance with the supersedeas bond previously ordered." This is because, in part, interest is accruing at \$2,700 per day. (App. 129). Over \$996,300.00 in interest has accrued since Appellants first filed their motion to stay on June 18, 2021, and there is no bond to secure this interest, much less the other damages that Respondents may incur. Petitioners' failure to post the bond thwarted a primary purpose of the supersedeas bond, which is to ensure the ability of creditors to satisfy the judgment will not be impaired pending appeal." *Lampson Universal Rigging, Inc. v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 105 Wn.2d 376, 378, 715 P.2d 1131 (1986).

This is not an issue of the Court of Appeals conflicting with precedent. It is a matter of Petitioners failing to comply with the court's

order—multiple times—leading to the unambiguous language in RCW § 7.60.260(5) instructing that the appeal is moot.

3. Petitioners advance the wrong definition of "good faith" purchaser.

Petitioners argue that "Pulte is unequivocally not a good faith 'purchaser." Pet. at 20. The problem with this argument is that they cite no evidence. Conversely, the trial court expressly found that the "proposed buyer, Pulte Homes, is acting in good faith." (CP 2201).

Moreover, RCW § 7.60.260(5) does not define a good faith purchaser as one who has already provided value. This not a common law case involving fraud in a purchase, it is a receivership sale and a different definition applies. Because the receivership statute is modeled after the bankruptcy code, bankruptcy cases are helpful in interpreting the statute. The "[g]ood faith of a purchaser is shown by the integrity of his conduct during the course of the sale proceedings[.]" *In re Gucci*, 126 F.3d 380, 390 (2d Cir. 1997). It may be "lost by 'fraud, collusion between the

¹ The Petition argues Pulte Homes is not a good faith purchaser because it did not advance funds to extend the current plat's expiration date. As support, the Petition states that "at the expense of Downie, JDH applied for a one-year extension of the property's preliminary plat approval,..." Pet. at 10; *also at* 26. This is a misrepresentation of fact by Petitioners because Mr. Downie has so far refused to pay the consultant who processed the application.

purchaser and other bidders or the trustee, or an attempt to take grossly unfair advantage of other bidders." *Id.* (quoting *In re Rock Indus. Mach. Corp.*, 572 F.2d 1195, 1198 (7th Cir. 1978)). Indeed, Petitioners embraced this definition of "good faith" when arguing to the Court of Appeals below. (Pulte App. 1-3).

Similarly, bankruptcy cases provide guidance on the deference owed to the trial court where there is a finding that the sale was negotiated in good faith. "Absent legal error, this is a 'formidable standard,'..." In re Old Cold LLC, 879 F.3d 376, 383–84 (1st Cir. 2018)(review for clear error unless the court's analysis is infected by legal error)(citations omitted)(emphasis added). Only if this Court forms a strong, unyielding belief, based on the entire record, that a mistake has been made should it upset the lower court's order of sale under the clear error standard. Id.; see also Ewell v. Diebert, 958 F.2d 276, 281 (9th Cir. 1992)("Typically, lack of good faith is shown by 'fraud, collusion between the purchaser and other bidders or the trustee, or an attempt to take grossly unfair advantage of other bidders")(quoting In re Suchy, 786 F.2d 900, 902 (9th Cir.

² 11 USC § 363(m).

1985)); In re 255 Park Plaza Associates Ltd. P'ship, 100 F.3d 1214, 1218 (6th Cir. 1996).

Petitioners cite nothing in the record to suggest fraud, collusion, or unfair advantage of other bidders, despite JDH having subpoenaed and deposed Pulte Homes. Nor have Petitioners ever disputed the other findings of good faith made by the trial court. (CP 2213)("the proposed sale terms are just and proper and in good faith and are the result of significant arm's-length negotiations between the Receiver and Pulte Homes"); (CP 2214) (The "Receiver has made its Motion in good faith and within the Receiver's proper exercise of its business judgment"). Consequently, Petitioners have not carried their formidable burden. The undisputed fact is that Pulte Homes offered two options for purchasing the Property. One had a quick closing and paid enough to cover all of the creditors' claims. The second (and ultimately approved approach), pays millions of dollars more than the nearest bidder and will return millions to JDH. Petitioners were asked by the trial court which of these two options they preferred, and they had no answer. (RP 60). This does not alter Pulte Homes' position as a good faith purchaser.

Petitioners' argument that Pulte Homes is not a good faith purchaser is meritless.

4. Petitioners' argument that the sale must close for the bankruptcy mootness doctrine to apply is at odds with ninth circuit precedent.

Petitioners argue that because the sale has not closed and title has not passed means the bankruptcy mootness rule does not apply. The Petition argues that "federal courts universally stress that closing marks the point..." Pet., at 28. This is wrong. The Ninth Circuit has repeatedly held that if the <u>order</u> of sale is not stayed, then the appeal will be rendered moot "regardless of whether a purchaser has taken irreversible steps following the sale." *In re Onouli-Kona Land Co.*, 846 F.2d 1170, 1172 (9th Cir. 1988)(citing *In re Exennium, Inc.*, 715 P.2d 1401 (9th Cir. 1983)); *see also In re Vista Del Mar Assoc., Inc.*, 1881 B.R. 422, 424 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 1995). *In re Exennium* observed that "Section 363(m) does not require the purchaser to take irreversible steps consummating the sale, thus making its overturning a hardship to the buyer, before the absence of a stay will be operative." *Id.* at 1404. Thus, the mootness doctrine applies irrespective of whether the "irreversible" step of closing has occurred.

What matters here is whether the order of sale has been stayed. *In re Onouli-Kona*, 846 F.2d at 1171 ("Bankruptcy's mootness rule applies when an appellant has failed to obtain a stay from an order that permits a

sale of a debtor's assets"); see, also, In re 255 Park Plaza, 100 F.3d at 1216 (6th Cir. 1996); Barnes v. 309 Rte. 100 Dover LLC, 2020 WL 6565197, 2:20-cv-00045 (D. VT, Nov. 6, 2020). That is consistent with RCW § 7.60.260(5)'s use of the words "authorization and sale". Each word of the statute must be accorded meaning. State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). The Court may not delete language from an unambiguous statute. Id. Yet, the interpretation advanced by Petitioners does just that by omitting any consideration of the words "authorization" and "and". Although it is typical for payment and transfer of title to occur shortly after a sale is approved, closing is not a requirement for the mootness doctrine to apply here because the stay on the "authorization", i.e., the order of sale, was lifted.

As further support showing that a sale need not close for the bankruptcy mootness doctrine to apply is *Krebbs Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc. v. Valley Motors, Inc.*, where the Third Circuit applied the doctrine to dismiss an appeal filed *by the buyer* when the buyer paid a ten percent down payment but then refused to close. 141 F.3d 490, 493 (3d Cir. 1998). The bankruptcy court entered an order compelling the buyer to close, which the buyer appealed. The Third Circuit dismissed on grounds of bankruptcy mootness.

This is a nuance of bankruptcy that reflects the need for finality in orders. "The bankruptcy mootness rule differs from general mootness law because it is based on 'the general rule that the occurrence of events which prevent an appellate court from granting effective relief renders an appeal moot, and the particular need for finality in orders regarding stays in bankruptcy." In re 255 Park, 100 F.3d at 1216 (quoting In re Onouli-Kona, 846 F.2d at 1171)(emphasis added). RCW § 7.60.260(5) mirrors the bankruptcy code, and so Division I followed the same nuance for receivership sales. In doing so, the Court of Appeals did not contradict this court or another division's case law on this issue. Similarly, the decision below is consistent with public policy favoring finality of judicial sales. Walton v. Severson, 100 Wn.2d 446, 670 P.2d 639 (1983); In re Spokane Savings Bank, 198 Wn. 665, 89 P.2d 802 (1939); see, also, Morrison v. Burnette, 154 F. 617 (8th Cir. 1907).

Petitioners' argument that no "sale" has occurred also ignores that the Receiver and Pulte Homes executed a Purchase and Sale Agreement in March 2021, which was approved by the trial court. (CP 1799-1823). The Agreement is a contract conferring rights and obligations addressing the ownership of land. It is not some meaningless piece of paper. If Petitioners were somehow successful in disrupting the sale through their

current backroom maneuvering, then Pulte Homes has the right to seek specific performance to acquire the Property.³ (CP 1817).

B. This case does not address issues of substantial public interest.

An issue of substantial public interest is presented when it affects not only the parties to the proceeding, but also "has the potential to affect" other similar matters. *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)(the underlying decision impacted not only the parties to that proceeding, but had the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County and could invite unnecessary litigation). While the Petition hypothesizes that the decision below could invite speculators to bid at judicial sales, the Petition fails to explain how the decision actually invites unnecessary litigation or creates confusion generally. *Id.* This is because Petitioners do not explain how the facts or outcome in this case have any likelihood of being replicated in the future. Indeed, Division I explained: "[a]nd under the particular circumstances here, including the interests of the receiver and the creditors, equitable review compels compliance with the supersedeas bond previously ordered." (App. 2).

³ Petitioners are currently attempting to purchase the creditors' claims so that they may try, again, to dismiss the receivership before the sale closes. This only highlights the inconsistency of their representation to the trial

Petitioners argue that moving forward, future judicial sales may attract speculators, but that is mere conjecture because there is no text in Division I's unpublished opinion that could conceivably invite speculative bidders. Nor does the opinion erode the role of the trial court to decide which bid or offer to accept. RCW § 7.60.260(1)(2).

Further, Petitioners' characterization of Pulte Homes as a simple speculator is wholly at odds with the actual evidence. First, Pulte Homes conducted due diligence on the Property since 2019 by working with the City of Auburn on possible changes to the preliminary plat. (CP 1550). Second, Pulte Homes and the Receiver spent six weeks negotiating an involved PSA. (RP 13-15). Third, Pulte Homes responded to Petitioners' subpoena and sat for a deposition. (CP 1538, 1551). Petitioners offered nothing from the document production or deposition to support their conjecture that Pulte Homes is a mere speculator. Fourth, and most obvious, Pulte Homes has fended off Petitioners' repeated attempts to disrupt the sale at the trial court, Court of Appeals, and now here. Petitioners' argument that Pulte Homes is a mere speculator who may never close on the Property lacks credibility.

court when they argued that a receivership was necessary to sell the Property.

Similarly, this case does not present an issue or doctrine that Petitioners suggest needs to be overturned or revisited. Petitioners' appeal was dismissed because of their own failure to post the supersedeas that was a condition to a stay. Petitioners were given multiple opportunities over six months to post the supersedeas. The Court of Appeals even warned Petitioners that if the supersedeas was not posted by a date certain then the appeal would be dismissed. (App. 187).

CONCLUSION

The Petition fails to establish grounds for review. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with an authority of this court or another court of appeals decision. Similarly, this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. Rather, this case involves a gamble by Petitioners to save the Property from foreclosure by misrepresenting to the trial court that the Property would be sold to pay the creditors. This is consistent with their "years of misrepresentations" that the independent Receiver reported to the trial court. (CP 1542). Such a gamble should not be rewarded by this Court.

Review should be denied.